1996

# Maxcine Archuleta v. Donald C. Hughes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### **JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

This is an appeal of right taken from a Judgment of Non-Suit and final orders denying Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion to Compel. No post-judgment motions were filed by either party. The final Judgment appealed from was entered on January 24, 1996. Archuleta filed a timely Notice of Appeal on February 21, 1996. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) has been "poured over" to the Court of Appeals.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED BY THIS APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment because Defendant and Appellee Donald C. Hughes ("Hughes") was not entitled to collect legal fees for services not covered by his written fee agreement where the fee agreement did not provide for the settlement of medical bills or collecting undisputed PIP benefits?

(a) Standard of review: The trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion for summary judgment is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993); State Farm Fire & Casualty co. v. Geary, 869 P.2d 952, 954 (Utah App. 1994).

(b) Issue preserved for appeal: Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed by Archuleta, [R. at 738]; Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [R. at 690].

2. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment because Hughes was precluded by applicable ethical rules from charging Archuleta a contingent fee for the routine collection of PIP insurance benefits from her own insurer?

(a) Standard of review: Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993); State Farm Fire & Casualty co. v. Geary, 869 P.2d 952, 954 (Utah App. 1994).

(b) Issue preserved for appeal: Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed by Archuleta, [R. at 738]; Plaintiff's Supplemental Brief Re: Construction of Attorney Fee Agreement, [R. at 477]; Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [R. at 690].

3. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Archuleta's Motion to Compel Discovery with regard to bank account information relating to Hughes' handling of certain

funds belonging to Archuleta, which information had a bearing on Archuleta's fraud and malpractice claims?

(a) Standard of review: Decisions regarding pre-trial discovery are committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, e.g., Utah Dept. of Transportation v. Osguthorpe, 892 P.2d 4,6 (Utah 1995); Marshall v. Marshall, 915 P.2d 508, 515 (Utah App. 1996). The wrongful denial of requested discovery, however, is presumed to be prejudicial rather than harmless, because the aggrieved party has been denied access to the requested information and cannot be required to prove that the information that has been denied would have affected the outcome of the trial. Askew v. Hardman, 884 P.2d 1258 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

(b) Issue preserved for appeal: Motion to Compel Discovery [R. at 272]; Order on Several Motions (Denying Motion to Compel) at ¶ 8 [R. at 523-24].

4. Did the trial court err in refusing to give Archuleta's proffered jury instruction holding Hughes responsible for the acts of his agent who dealt with Archuleta on Hughes' behalf?

(a) Standard of review: A trial court's refusal to give a requested jury instruction is an issue of law, reviewed for correctness. Onq Int'l (U.S.A.), Inc. v. 11th Ave. Corp., 850 P.2d 447, 452 (Utah 1993).

(b) Issue preserved for appeal: [R. at 1052-60]

5. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment because Hughes constructively defrauded Archuleta by charging her an illegal and unreasonable contingent fee for collecting undisputed PIP benefits.

(a) Standard of review: Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah 1993); State Farm Fire & Casualty co. v. Geary, 869 P.2d 952, 954 (Utah App. 1994).

(b) Issue preserved for appeal: Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed by Archuleta, [R. at 738]; Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. [R. at 690]

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a legal malpractice case arising out of the representation and handling of a personal injury claim by Hughes. In particular, the case involves the interpretation and application of an "Attorney Retainer Contract" that was entered into by Archuleta and Hughes' representative, Ronald Bennett. Hughes, acting almost entirely through his adjuster, Bennett, settled Archuleta's case and charged her a contingent fee of one-third of the total amount recovered -- including \$2400 in PIP benefits that were undisputed and which she would have been entitled to upon submission to her insurer. Archuleta's claims against Hughes arise out of his handling of her claim, including his retaining the contingent fee from the PIP benefits due from Archuleta's insurer.

Archuleta moved for Partial Summary Judgment on the grounds that the written fee agreement between Archuleta and Hughes did not provide for the collection of contingent fees for the collection of PIP benefits and because charging a contingent fee to collect such benefits is illegal. Archuleta further moved for Partial Summary Judgment on the grounds that Hughes' conduct constituted, as a matter of law, constructive fraud. Archuleta also moved to compel discovery of certain bank records relating to Hughes' handling of settlement funds belonging to Archuleta, as these records had a direct bearing on Archuleta's claims for malpractice and fraud. At the jury trial held on Archuleta's claims, Archuleta requested that the jury be instructed that Hughes could be held liable for the acts or omissions of his agent, Bennett. Archuleta appeals from the denial of these motions and the refusal to give the requested jury instruction as to Hughes' liability for the acts of his agent.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Less than a week after her auto accident injury, Archuleta was contacted by Ronald Bennett, a non-lawyer who worked as a "public adjuster."<sup>1</sup> Bennett offered to

---

<sup>1</sup>In Utah State Bar v. Sumerhays & Hayden Public Adjusters, 905 P. 2d 867 (Utah, 1995), the Utah Supreme Court held that representation of parties by public adjusters constituted the unauthorized practice of law. Accordingly, the Supreme Court upheld a permanent injunction against public adjusting.

"represent" her in seeking compensation from the responsible party. [R. at 961-65]

2. When Archuleta met with Bennett in his office at the back of a store, she signed an Attorney Retainer Agreement which designated Donald Hughes, the defendant-appellee here, as her attorney. [R. at 967-68]

3. Hughes, who resided in St. Louis at that time, admitted he was not present when the retainer was signed, that the blank contract spaces were probably completed by Bennett, and that he never personally met Archuleta, but claimed he recalled talking to her twice on the phone. [R. at 1176-78]

4. Hughes never corresponded with his "client," Archuleta, [R. at 969] and indeed did not even retain her phone number in his legal file. [R. at 1178] Neither Hughes nor Bennett explained to Archuleta the difference between liability payments from the other parties' insurer and PIP benefits from her own insurer. [R. at 970]

5. The "Attorney Retainer Agreement" signed by Archuleta was ambiguous regarding contingent compensation terms, and did not provide attorney fees for collecting undisputed insurance benefits due under Archuleta's own insurance policy from her insurer. (A copy of the Attorney Retainer Agreement is attached hereto as Attachment "A.")

6. Hughes "handled" Archuleta's case entirely from St. Louis. He did not obtain medical information about her

condition. Instead, Hughes authorized Bennett to initiate and conduct settlement discussions (in which he did not participate) with the insurance company. [R. at 85-86]

7. Bennett accepted the insurance company's first offer of \$6,500.00 with the proviso that unpaid medical expenses of \$2,400 be included in the settlement rather than being submitted for payment under the plaintiff's PIP policy and then reimbursed by the liability carrier. Archuleta was not told that the settlement included unpaid PIP benefits. [R. at 53]

8. Thus, the gross settlement payment of \$9,186 included \$2,400 for the balance of medical bills which would have been reimbursable as personal injury protection (PIP) benefits under Archuleta's own insurance policy<sup>2</sup> [R. at 1076], but had not been submitted to the insurer (at Bennett's direction). [R. at 981]

9. Hughes has admitted that the \$2400 of unpaid medical expenses would have been paid by Archuleta's PIP insurance if the bills had been submitted. [R. at 1063-64]

10. Despite this, Hughes took a full one-third fee of \$800 on the \$2400 included in the settlement for the medical

---

<sup>2</sup>Both the other driver and Archuleta were insured by the same insurance company, Allstate, and thus the total settlement received by Archuleta related to both proceeds from her "own" insurance policy as well as that of the other driver.

expenses that would have been paid under Archuleta's PIP coverage. [R. at 1075-76]

11. In addition, Hughes retained \$1186 from Archuleta's share of the settlement, ostensibly to pay pending hospital bills, even though his retainer agreement did not retain him to settle her bills. [R. at 1103]

12. This \$1,186 was returned to Archuleta after she dismissed plaintiff and retained another attorney. [R. at 1105] Hughes never resolved the outstanding medical bills or contacted the hospital to do so. [R. at 1110]

13. Archuleta moved for partial summary judgment on the grounds that as a matter of law Hughes was not entitled to collect a contingent fee on the \$2400 portion of the settlement that would have been payable to her under her own PIP benefits. [R. at 738]

14. Archuleta also moved to compel discovery responses relating to her discovery requests relating to Hughes' handling of the \$1186 that he had held in his account for the payment of medical bills. [R. at 272]

15. Both the summary judgment and the motion to compel discovery were denied. [R. at 523-34, 690]

16. A jury trial resulted in a verdict in favor of Hughes on Archuleta's claims that Hughes was guilty of legal malpractice. [R. at 688]

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Hughes collected a one-third contingency fee for certain PIP insurance benefits obtained from Archuleta's own insurer rather than the tortfeasor who injured her. The written contingent fee agreement drafted by Hughes and signed by Archuleta must be construed strictly against Hughes. It does not allow Hughes to recover for settlement of medical bills or collection of undisputed PIP benefits.

2. Because there is virtually no risk of non-recovery in collection of PIP insurance benefits, the Utah State Bar and other courts and bar associations have determined that it is unethical to charge "contingent" fees for the collection of routine PIP insurance benefits. Hughes' collection of fees on Archuleta's PIP benefits was therefore prohibited.

3. Virtually all of the "work" done to settle Archuleta's case was performed by a "public adjuster," Ron Bennett, who was acting on behalf of Hughes. Utah agency law holds principals liable for the acts of their agents acting within the scope of their agency. It was therefore error for the trial court to refuse to give a jury instruction that Hughes was responsible for the acts and omissions of his agent -- Bennett. This error was compounded by the Court's statement: "Mr. Bennett is not on trial here." [R. at 970]

4. Archuleta sought discovery of bank records relating to Hughes' handling of certain settlement funds owed to her.

Hughes resisted this request on the fallacious grounds that these records were "privileged." Archuleta sought to compel production of this information, which motion was denied. The erroneous denial of discovery information is presumed to be prejudicial as the party requesting the information does not have the information to show whether it would have affected the outcome of the trial.

5. Because of his status as her attorney, Hughes is, as a matter of law, in a confidential relationship with Archuleta. His abuse of that relationship by failing to disclose that his charging of contingent fees for collection of PIP benefits, which were excessive and ethically prohibited, constituted constructive fraud on Archuleta.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in denying Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as Hughes' retainer agreement was ambiguous and did not retain him to settle medical bills or collect undisputed PIP benefits Archuleta's own insurer.

The written "Attorney Retainer Agreement" pursuant to which Hughes was hired by Archuleta to represent her is a single-page, pre-printed "form" document with blanks that have been "filled-in" in handwriting. The document is less than one full page in length and is set forth in its entirety as Attachment "A." In describing the work to be completed by Hughes and the compensation for doing this work, the Agreement provides:

In consideration of the legal services to be rendered by Attorney Donald C. Hughes, hereinafter referred to as Attorney, for any claim that Maxine Archuleta, hereinafter referred to as Client, may have against the party or parties responsible for injuries and damages sustained by Client on or about the 15 [sic] day of October 1993 arising from a certain occurrence in [illegible] County, State of Utah, briefly described as follows: auto collision.

Client hereby authorizes Attorney to commence and prosecute said claim and assigns to Attorney a lien of 1/3 (1/3%) [sic] of all amounts recovered by compromise, settlement or judgment obtained after trial or within 10 days of the date set for trial. It is understood by Client that this agreement extends only through preparation and trial of the claim, and not to the defense or prosecution of any appeal that may be required.

IF NO RECOVERY IS OBTAINED, NO FEE SHALL BE PAYABLE TO ATTORNEY.

Attachment "A" at 1.

Under established case law in Utah, contingent fee agreements are to be "strictly construed against one who is 'both the attorney draftsman of and a party to the instrument.'" Phillips v. Smith, 768 P.2d 449, 451 (Utah 1989) quoting Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Bybee, 306 P.2d 773, 775 (Utah 1957). In Phillips the Utah Supreme Court held that because a written contingent fee agreement was silent regarding the client's liability if representation was terminated prior to the obtaining recovery no fees were owed by the clients to attorneys who were discharged before settlement. "[T]he express agreement of the parties did not provide for the possibility that [attorneys'] representation

of the [clients] would be terminated before the [clients'] claim was settled. Therefore the [clients] owed the [attorneys] nothing when they terminated that representation." Phillips, 768 P.2d at 452.

The written Attorney Retainer Agreement prepared by Hughes and executed by Archuleta is hopelessly ambiguous. Read literally, it provides for payment to Hughes of a percentage of settlement amounts "obtained after trial or within 10 days of the date set for trial." Because there was no date set for trial and no trial of Archuleta's claims, under the rationale of Phillips no compensation was due to Hughes. Moreover, the written agreement is ambiguous as to the amount of compensation owing. The agreement calls for a "lien" of "1/3 (1/3%) of all amounts recovered." If this were strictly construed against Hughes, he would be entitled to .0033 of the amount recovered for Archuleta.

Even if it is possible to "gloss over" the problems inherent in the drafting of the Agreement, it simply **does not provide** for any fees to Hughes for settling Archuleta's medical bills or her claims against her own insurance company. Under long-established ethical rules, contingent fee agreements in Utah are required to be in writing. See Rule 1.5(c) Utah Rules of Professional Conduct. The Retainer Agreement signed by Archuleta allows Hughes to pursue claims Archuleta "may have against the party or parties responsible

for injuries and damages sustained by Archuleta . . . .” No mention is made of pursuing claims against her insurer. No mention is made of retaining Hughes to settle her medical bills. In the absence of a clear written statement that Hughes was to pursue such claims, there was no basis for him to collect contingent fees from Archuleta on the basis of settling her PIP claims against her own insurer.

The Utah State Bar’s fee arbitration panel has ruled that a retainer agreement similar to the one used by Hughes in this case was improper and limited the attorney to recovering the reasonable value of his services. See Utah Bar Journal, January 1994, p. 23 (Copy attached hereto as Attachment “B”) In that case, the tortfeasor had been uninsured, so an attorney filed a personal injury claim against his client’s own insurance company, collecting \$100,000 under the policy’s uninsured motorist provisions, retaining one-third of this recovery as his fee. While the client’s right to recovery stemmed from the same accident and injuries for which she had initially retained her attorney, the fee was found to be improper because the representation contract did not provide a fee for recovering from the client’s own insurance company. The attorney was admonished for charging an excessive fee and restricted to recovering only the reasonable value of services he had rendered.

The representation agreement in this case must similarly be construed strictly against Hughes, who provided the form to his client. It imply does not provide a fee for settling medical bills or collecting benefits under Archuleta's own contract of insurance. Because Hughes would not be allowed an \$800 fee for recovering \$2,400 in PIP benefits if he had directly submitted the medical expenses to Archuleta's own PIP carrier, he cannot be allowed to claim that fee by including this \$2,400 into the liability settlement.

Archuleta moved for partial summary judgment against Hughes on the issue of his fees with respect to her PIP benefits. Summary judgment should be granted when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *E.g., Gillman v. Dept. of Financial Institutions*, 782 P.2d 506 (Utah 1989). The undisputed material facts establish that even though Hughes' retainer agreement did not allow attorney fees for settling PIP claims with Archuleta's own insurer, he charged Archuleta a one-third contingency fee of \$800 on insurance settlement funds for medical bills that her insurer would have paid to Archuleta as PIP benefits if they had been submitted. On these facts, Archuleta was entitled to partial summary judgment as to \$800 of the fee charged by Hughes as a matter of law. This Court should reverse the trial court's refusal to grant summary judgment on this issue.

II. The trial court erred in not granting Archuleta's Motion for Partial Summary judgment as Utah ethical rules prohibit charging contingent fees for the routine collection of PIP insurance benefits.

It is undisputed that Hughes received \$800 of contingent fees from the settlement funds paid to Archuleta that represented one-third of the \$2400 PIP insurance benefits she was to receive from her own insurer, Allstate. Charging contingent fees for the collection of PIP insurance benefits is unethical and prohibited in Utah. Opinion 114 of the Utah State Bar's Ethic's Advisory Opinion Committee, which was issued on February 20, 1992, flatly prohibits the use of a one-third contingency fee for collection of PIP benefits from a client's insurer. The full opinion of the Committee is as follows:

Under the Utah Rules of Professional Conduct, which require that a lawyer's fee be reasonable, contingent fees charged for the routine filing and collection of undisputed PIP or "no fault" claims from the client's insurer are unreasonable and excessive. State bars, courts, and commentators facing this issue uniformly agree that contingent fees charged on the recovery of undisputed PIP payments are unreasonable. Contingent fees are generally higher [than fixed fees] because receipt of the fee itself is contingent on some possibility. Because PIP benefits are virtually guaranteed to accident victims a fee contingent on the receipt of those benefits is likely to be unreasonable.

(emphasis added) Accordingly, the Utah Bar advised Utah attorneys that Rule 1.5(a)<sup>3</sup> would be violated by charging a

---

<sup>3</sup>Which requires that lawyer's fees be reasonable.

contingent fee for the filing and collection of PIP or 'no fault' claims from the client's insurer.

The reasonableness of a contingent fee contract depends in part on the "realistic risk of non-recovery." Id. Since there is "virtually no risk" and minimal time involved for the lawyer, contingent fees are improper for the collection of PIP benefits. Id. This same conclusion has been reached in numerous other jurisdictions. See, e.g., Attorney Grievance Comm'n v. Kemp, 496 A.2d 672 (Md. 1985); Pops & Estrin, P.C. v. Reliance Insurance Co., 562 N.Y.S.2d 914 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 1990); In re Hanna, 362 S.E.2d 632 (S.C. 1987); and Brickman, Contingent Fees Without Contingencies: Hamlet Without the Prince of Denmark? 37 UCLA L. Rev. 29, 76-78 (1989).

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