1996

Maxine Archuletta v. Donald Hughes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The position of defendant/appellee is that he well represented Maxine Archuleta that that she recovered a fair and reasonable settlement for her real injuries related to the accident.

1. Three of appellant's claims are for the court's refusal to grant partial summary judgment. For purposes of summary judgment the facts are viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

2. Three of appellant's points are essentially the same and seek a ruling that an attorney cannot take a fee on uncontested pip benefits. The flaw in the argument is that no fee was collected on any pip benefits in this case.

a. Appellant's first issue. This isn't a lien case. It is a case in which plaintiff's law suit was settled and plaintiff authorized the settlement. It was never disputed that she understood she was agreeing to a contingent fee of 1/3. Her foremost claim at trial was that her case was worth more. The jury disagreed and that issue is not on appeal. Plaintiff's claim is that the agreement did not authorize the payment of a fee for PIP benefits. The problem plaintiff/appellant has is no fee was ever taken on PIP benefits.

b. Appellant's second issue. Plaintiff/Appellant still argues that Hughes should not be allowed to receive \$800 for PIP benefits. Whether the law allows attorneys to collect fees for such services is irrelevant because none was collected by Hughes on any PIP benefits. The undisputed amount of benefits paid under PIP was \$618 and Maxine Archuleta received all of that.

c. Appellant's fifth issue. This point in appellant's brief is a recitation of the same misstatement of fact asserting that Hughes took a fee of \$800 on PIP benefits. I don't know how many times it needs to be said no such fee was collected. The medical necessity of the bills was questioned by the PIP and none after the \$618 were paid. The liability case settled at about the same time as Maxine Archuleta's physician was responding to the inquiry for justification of an MRI.

3. Plaintiff's third issue is the refusal to give an instruction on agency. Agency was not an issue at trial. There was nothing done in representation that Hughes did not claim to have either done or directly supervised.
4. The court properly refused to allow plaintiff/appellant to audit Hughes trust account. There was no issue in this trial that required Hughes to divulge the confidential information of his clients. Plaintiff admitted that she received all trust funds promptly on her terminating the attorney client relation.
5. This is a frivolous appeal that should not have been brought. The entire remaining claim of plaintiff subject to this appeal is \$800. It certainly points to other purposes as to why this case is still being pursued.

APPELLEE'S ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THREE OF APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE FOR THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO GRANT PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The timing of the summary judgment hearing is somewhat unusual. The motions for summary judgment were not scheduled until the final pretrial conference days before the commencement of trial. The parties stipulated that arguments would take place after the jury was out. The jury returned a verdict of non suit against the plaintiff/appellant before the arguments could be heard. The actual arguments took place after conclusion of the trial and the return of the verdict. All of the issues presented in plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment were litigated at trial and found wanting by the jury.

Hughes as defendant filed with the court a lengthy affidavit in support of his opposition to the motion for partial summary judgment. See affidavit at page 416 of the record. The affidavit contested virtually every fact claimed by the plaintiff/appellant. There were no uncontested facts in plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment.

Summary judgment is only appropriate if there are no undisputed material issues of fact. On summary judgment the facts are interpreted in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Sandy City v Salt Lake City*, 827 P2d 212 (Utah 1992); *Rollins v Petersen*, 813 P2d 1156 (Utah 1991); *Rutherford v AT&T Communications of Mountain States*, 844 P2d 949 (Utah 1992). In the context of claims against attorneys the same rule applies and the facts are also viewed in favor of the non-moving party. "It is only necessary for the non-moving party to show 'facts' controverting the 'facts' asserted by the moving party." *Breuer-Harrison v Combe*, 799 P2d 727, 728 (Utah App 1990). In this case Hughes submitted a long and detailed statement of the case controverting virtually every fact claimed by the plaintiff/appellant. In the context of the motion for partial summary judgment there were no uncontested facts. **The strange twist in this case is that the jury as finder of fact had at the time the judge was ruling on the motion, had heard the fully litigated case and had found that plaintiff's evidence lacking and not credible. How could anyone say the plaintiff/appellant had presented uncontested facts.**

POINT TWO

THREE OF APPELLANT'S POINTS ARE ESSENTIALLY THE SAME AND SEEK A RULING THAT AN ATTORNEY CANNOT TAKE A FEE ON UNCONTESTED PIP BENEFITS. THE FLAW IN THE ARGUMENT IS THAT NO FEE WAS COLLECTED ON ANY PIP BENEFITS IN THIS CASE.

Three of plaintiff/appellant relate to the court's denial of partial summary judgment and all three relate directly to the assertion that an attorney should not take a fee on uncontested PIP benefits. These issues on plaintiff/appellant/s motion for partial summary judgment are dealt with together because of their similarity. The issues raised by appellant bear little resemblance to the case that was tried and less relation to the facts as testified to by the witnesses including Maxine Archuleta.

The first, second and fifth issues raised on appeal by appellant are each different ways of stating the same claim that an attorney is not entitled to a fee on undisputed PIP benefits. None of these issues apply to this case. Regardless of whether there are circumstances in which an attorney can charge a fee for collecting PIP benefits the issue doesn't apply in this case. **NO FEE WAS TAKEN ON ANY PIP BENEFITS, CONTESTED OR OTHERWISE.** See paragraph four of appellee's affidavit at Page 416 of the record.

The general rule is that negligence cases are not subject to summary judgment. *Preston v Lamb* 436 P2d 1021 (Utah 1968). This applies to attorney negligence as well. *Jackson v Dabney*, 645 P2d 615 (Utah 1982). The standard of care and question of breach are fact questions for the jury on receipt of proper expert opinion. *Jackson, supra*; *Brown v Small* 825 P2d 1209 (Mont 1992).

A. Appellant's first issue.

The first issue is the claim the retainer agreement did not retain Hughes to settle claims against her own insurance company. The appellant completely misconstrues the facts. Allstate Insurance was both the PIP carrier for Maxine Archuleta and the liability carrier for the woman that ran into her. See paragraph 16 of the affidavit of Appellee at page 416 of the record. There was no settlement with the PIP carrier. The settlement was with Allstate as the liability carrier. See previous citation to record.

The initial medical bills were submitted to Allstate as the PIP carrier by Maxine Archuleta on forms prepared in Hughes office without charge by Hughes. Allstate as the PIP carrier paid \$618 to Archuleta and settled her property damage claim, all without Hughes taking a fee.

Separate adjusters represented Allstate on the PIP claim and on the liability claim. The PIP adjuster questioned the medical necessity of an MRI and requested explanation why appellants physician had ordered the MRI. The bill was never paid by the PIP claim. The liability claim settled before the PIP adjuster resolved her concerns or paid any bills. See paragraph 6 of affidavit at

page 416 of the record. At trial of this issue Archuleta could not prove that she had \$3,000 in medical bills related to the accident to reach the threshold for filing a suit. She admitted that she had subsequently injured her knee and had additional problems not related to the accident.

Maxine Archuleta has never claimed that Hughes ever told her or represented to her the contingent fee to be anything other than 1/3 of the recovery. She has not claimed that her understanding was otherwise. In none of the documents supporting her motion for partial summary judgment on this issue is there reference to her understanding being otherwise. The settlement of this case was with the liability carrier of the woman that ran into her. Coincidentally that carrier also happened to be Allstate her own carrier. The attorneys for the plaintiff/appellant intentionally confuse the difference just as they tried to do at trial. Allstate was required to maintain a "China Wall" between the two adjusters. In this case they did this. The settlement was with the liability carrier for new money and the reimbursement of the PIP carrier for benefits paid.

For plaintiff/appellant to have prevailed on her motion for partial summary judgment she would have had to demonstrate that the standard of care for attorneys is that collection of PIP benefits is violated per se and constitutes malpractice. She would then have to demonstrate that she had medical bills that would have qualified for PIP benefits and that they were uncontested. The basic elements of attorney malpractice important to this case are 1) the standard of care of attorneys, 2) whether the standard was breached and 3) did the breach proximately result in damages. *Harline v Barker* 854 P2d 595, 598 (Utah App 1993).

In the supporting documents for the motion for partial summary judgment there is no expert opinion proffered. The only expert opinion offered is that of defendant/appellee to the effect that his actions in this case were within the standard of care required of attorneys in the Second Judicial District.

There was also no demonstration that she had incurred any additional medical bills related to the accident that would have qualified for PIP payments. At trial this issue was fully litigated and Maxine Archuleta admitted she could not show even sufficient medical bills related to the accident to meet the \$3,000 threshold. When she incurred a total of \$3,000 in medical bills for all reasons she quit going for treatment and has refused to go since. See affidavit at Page 416 of the record.

B. Appellant's second issue.

The second claim is virtually a restatement of the first, namely that Hughes would not be entitled to a fee on the routine collection of PIP benefits. The undisputed fact in the documents presented by appellant in support of her motion for summary judgment make no claim Hughes collected a fee on any PIP benefits. At trial plaintiff/appellant admitted that Hughes did not take a fee on any PIP benefits. At trial her claim changed to one of saying that Hughes should have submitted and pursued her PIP claims for her without fee even if they were contested.

Maxine Archuleta submitted her own PIP claim with supporting forms from Hughes office. Archuleta submitted and settled her own property damage claim. Hughes took no fee on any of those funds. Maxine Archuleta ran into a dead end on PIP payments. Her PIP benefits were not routine. They were not uncontested and they were not paid. Hughes did not collect them nor did he take a fee on any that were collected.

This is a legal malpractice case. It is a claim that the performance of the Appellee fell below the standard of practice of attorneys similarly situated. Even if Hughes had taken a fee on PIP benefits Appellant offered no expert opinion with her that collection of PIP benefits is malpractice.

The necessary elements of a claim against an attorney are well established in Utah law. The Court of Appeals in *Breuer-Harrison, Inc. v Combe* 799 P2d 716,

727 (Utah 1990) says, "Once this [attorney client] relationship is proven, the client has the burden of showing two additional elements: 1) negligence on the part of the attorney, and 2) that such negligence was the proximate cause of damage to the client." The court cites *Dunn v McKay Burton and Thurman*, 584 P2d 894, 896 (Utah 1978) as authority for this statement.

"The elements of legal malpractice include: (1) an attorney-client relationship; (2) a duty of the attorney to the client; (3) a breach of that duty; and (4) damages suffered by the client proximately caused by the attorney's breach of duty." *Harline v Barker* 854 P2d 595, 598 (Utah App 1993).

Whether an attorney breached the standard of care is an issue of fact. "A genuine issue of fact exists where, on the facts in the record, reasonable minds could differ on whether defendant's conduct measures up to the required standard." *Jackson v Dabney*, 645 P2d 615 (Utah 1982).

The standard of care is determined by expert testimony. Utah, as virtually every jurisdiction requires the standard of professional care be proven by expert testimony. The standard of care is a question of fact to be determined through expert testimony. *Kellas v Sawilosky*, 322 SE2d 897 (GA 1984); *Gruse v Belline* 486 NE2d 398 (1985); *Brown v Small* 825 P2d 1209 (Mont 1992); *Boigegrain v Gilbert*, 784 P2d 849 (Colo App 1989); *Somma v Gracey* 544 A2d 668 (1988).

After the standard of care is proven the plaintiff must prove the defendant breached the standard and that there are damages proximately caused by the breach of the standard. This is the trial within a trial referenced supra.

“Proximate cause is an issue of fact.” *Harline supra* at 600. See also *Swift Stop, Inc. v Wight*, 845 P2d 250, 253 (Utah App 1992).

These are the legal doctrines enunciated by the Utah appellate courts applying to claims against attorneys. None of this body of law is cited by the plaintiff. The requirements of proving a duty and the applicable standard of care is for expert opinion. In this particular case the reasons for expert testimony apply. The claimed breach is not simple such as a missed statute of limitations but relates to “constructive” duties asserted by plaintiff’s counsel. Evaluation of the standard of care requires the assistance of expert witnesses.

C. Plaintiff/Appellant’s fifth issue.

It is claimed that, “as a matter of law, Hughes constructively defrauded Archuleta when he charged her an illegal and unreasonable contingent fee for collecting undisputed PIP benefits.” (Point V of appellant’s brief) It should be noted that the plaintiff/appellant admitted that there was no evidence of actual fraud. It should also be noted that there is no claim that Hughes took a fee on any PIP benefit. No fee was collected on PIP benefits.

There was no evidence in any of the documents supporting the motion for partial summary judgment that Maxine Archuleta had any medical bills beyond the \$618 that were paid that qualified for payment by PIP benefits.

Plaintiff/ Appellant offered no evidence from any medical provider to even suggest that any of the medical bills either related to the accident or were medically necessary because of the accident. The affidavit of Hughes contesting

the partial summary judgment certainly controverts the claim and requires the trier of fact to determine the facts. See paragraphs 4, 5, and 6 of the affidavit at Page 416 of the record. At trial the issue was litigated. Plaintiff/Appellant failed to call any of the physicians to demonstrate relation to the accident or medical necessity. Maxine Archuleta admitted on the stand that at least some of the bills related to a subsequent injury to her knee and to other illness not related to the accident.

In this case nothing was done to discourage or suggest to plaintiff that she not submit bills for PIP benefits. In fact at trial it was demonstrated that the \$618 in bills she did submit were submitted on supporting forms from Hughes office. At trial the issue of should bills always be submitted to the PIP carrier was raised in the context of trying to settle the hospital bill for less than its face value. At trial the issue was litigated as to whether there were conditions under which PIP benefits harmed a claimant. The answer was a clear yes and the rationale applies here in the context of did Hughes have some duty to submit and collect PIP benefits for free.

The gist of the argument is straight forward. Medical providers such as hospitals have an established "usual and customary" charge for each service. No one pays that price except people without insurance and those that are paying their bills with PIP benefits. Maxine Archuleta had medical insurance coverage supervised by a managed care group. The testimony at trial was that her managed care paid for services at rates as little as 45% of the "usual and

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